### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM TAYLOR,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC04-2243

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ANDREA M. NORGARD FLORIDA BAR NO. 661066 SPECIAL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33830 (863)533-8556

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The instant appeal arises from a sentence of death imposed upon the Appellant, William Taylor. Mr. Taylor will be referred to as Taylor in the Initial Brief. The State of Florida, the prosecuting authority, will be referred to as the State. The record on appeal consists of 30 volumes. Volumes 1-8 contain the documents supplied by the Clerk and will be referenced in the Initial Brief with the volume number followed by "R" and the appropriate page number. Volumes 9-30 contain the transcripts of the lower proceedings and will be referenced in Initial Brief by the volume number followed by "T" and the appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 12, 2001, the Grand Jury for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, returned an indictment against the Appellant, William Taylor, for the first-degree murder of Sandra Kushmer between May 25 and May 26, 2001, contrary to §782.04(1) and §775.087(2), Florida Statutes (2001). (V1,R23) Taylor was also charged with one count of Attempted First-Degree Murder, a first-degree felony contrary to §782.04 and

§777.04, Florida Statutes (2001); Robbery with a Deadly Weapon, a first-degree felony punishable by life contrary to §812.13(1) and (2)(A), Florida Statutes (2001); Robbery with a Firearm, a first-degree felony punishable by life contrary to §812.13(1) and (2)(A) and §775.087(2), Florida Statutes (2001); Armed Burglary of a Dwelling, a firstdegree felony punishable by life contrary to §810.02(1) and (2)(B) and §775.087(2), Florida Statutes, (2001) and Felon in Possession of a Firearm, a degree felony contrary to §790.23(1), Florida Statutes (2001). (V1,R23-27) The State's Notice to Seek the Death Penalty was filed on March 22, 2002. (V1,R37;V9,T5-8)

Numerous defense motions attacking constitutionality of the death penalty were filed. On August 28, 2002, defense counsel filed a motion asserting the Florida death penalty sentencing scheme was unconstitutional under Ring. (V2,R59-236;V3,R237-353) On September 2, 2003, additional defensive motions were filed seeking to declare the death sentencing scheme unconstitutional under Ring (V3,R356-377;V4,R483-504); that the death penalty is unconstitutional(V4,R449-450); for lack of adequate appellate review(V3,R378-400;460-482);unconstitutional for permitting a bare majority of jurors to be sufficient for a

death recommendation(V4,R414-416;451-453); unconstitutional due to inadequate or misleading jury instructions regarding mitigation (V4,R401-413;V4,R510-522); to declare the HAC and CCP jury instructions unconstitutional (V4,R417-432); and to declare Florida R. Crim. P. 3.202 unconstitutional. (V4,R572-586)

Defense counsel objected to the State's use of a 1976 conviction for First Degree Assault as a predicate for the Prior Violent Felony Aggravator due to the remoteness of the conviction. (V10,T261-278) The State countered that the offense was applicable due to the length of incarceration that Mr. Taylor had received for that offense, intervening criminal activity, and his continuous incarceration. (V10,T275-277) The trial court initially took the motion under advisement. (V10,T279) The issue was revisited on March 5, 2004, wherein the objection was renewed and exclusion of the Delaware victim was sought. (V10,T338-344) The motion to strike was denied. (V10,T344)

Numerous challenges were made the standard jury instructions. (V5,R638-697)

Defense counsel sought individual voir dire of the jurors and for voir dire after the verdict. (V4,R548-556) Three motions in limine sought to exclude the challenge of

certain jurors for cause, to prohibit cross-examination of the defendant in penalty phase about the details of the crime, and to strike portions of the standard jury instructions. (V4,R557-561;564-566;569-571)

Pretrial rulings were also sought to prohibit or limit the presentation of victim impact evidence to the jury or to permit such evidence to be heard only by the trial judge. (V5,R590-612;618-627;632-635) Defense counsel sought to have any victim impact evidence presented by video tape only and to require a pre-presentation proffer of such evidence. (V5,R630-631;636-637)

Defense counsel also sought protection from the discovery provisions of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.202, Florida Statutes, (2001). (V5, R759-780)

A severance of Count 6, Felon in Possession of a Firearm was sought. (V5,R712-714)

The trial court's order on penalty phase motions is located at V6,R940-943.

The State filed numerous motions in limine, which sought to exclude reference to a second perpetrator (V6,R901); other criminal activity not committed by the defendant (V6,R902); any argument of "diminished capacity" (V6,R903); any argument of residual doubt (V6,R904); any

argument of actual execution methods, actual or as depicted in print media (V6,R905;907); any argument about religious belief and the death penalty (V6,R906) and any comparison to other death cases. (V6,R908) Following a hearing on February 27, 2004, the trial court granted the motion as to reference to residual doubt (V10,T289); methods and descriptions of executions (V10,T293); religious beliefs in the penalty phase argument (V10, T296,299); comparisons between other death cases (V10,T304); and diminished capacity (V10,T311). The trial court denied the State's motion requesting to restrict argument of a second perpetrator (V0,T307).

A Motion to Suppress Evidence Seized in an Unlawful Search was filed on January 22, 2004. (V5,R715-721) The motion alleged that the evidence was illegally seized without a warrant and without adequate consent to search from Taylor. (V5,R717)

Taylor filed a motion in limine asserting the marital privilege as codified under §90.504, Florida Statutes, (2001). (V6,R917-920) Taylor sought to prevent the State from introducing evidence contained in letters Taylor wrote to his wife during his incarceration. (V6,R918-920) The court granted the motion with the state's

concession that the letters were within the marital privilege exemption under the evidence code.(V7,R982-984;V10,T331-322;336) Later redactions requested by the defense were approved by the court.(V7,R1161-1165;V10,T415-438)

Mr. Taylor was tried by a jury, with the Honorable Barbara Fleischer, Circuit Judge, presiding from March 15, 2004 through March 26, 2004. (V6,R968) A mistrial was declared. (V6,R968) A retrial was held from June 2, 2004 through June 9, 2004. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on the first five counts of the Indictment on June 9, 2004. (V8,R1212-1213;V25,T2477-2478)

The penalty phase was held on June 11, 2004. (V8,R1245) A stipulation was entered into by the defense and State as to the prior record of Mr. Taylor. (V8,R1258-1259) The jury returned an advisory recommendation of death by a vote of 12/0 on June 14, 2004. (V8,R1285)

A written motion for renewed judgment of acquittal and for a new trial was filed on June 16, 2004. (V8,R1274-1280)

The Sentencing memorandum for the State was submitted on July 16, 2004. (V8,R1281-1289) The State relied upon three aggravating circumstances in support of a death sentence: Prior Violent Felony Conviction; Murder Committed

б

for Pecuniary Gain; and that Taylor was on Felony Probation at the time of the offense. (V8,R1286-1288) The State further urged the court to accept the recommendation of the jury.

The defendant's sentencing memorandum was submitted on July 16, 2004. (V8,R1291-1312) The defense urged the trial court to override the jury recommendation. (V8,R12991-1294) With regard to the aggravating factors, the defense argued the prior convictions had occurred 27 years previous when Taylor was an adolescent. (V8,R1295) Defense counsel conceded that Taylor committed the offenses to obtain property, but argued that he went to the house with no intent to harm. (V8,R1296) The offense that Taylor was on probation for at the time of the murder was a non-violent offense. (V8,R1296)

In mitigation the defense urged to court to consider numerous mitigating circumstances. The defense argued that two statutory mitigating circumstances had been proven- (1) The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and (2) the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially

impaired. (V8,R1297-1302) The defense presented the following non-statutory mitigating circumstances: Mr. Taylor has neurological impairment in the frontal lobe and temporal lobes of his brain, which affect his brain's function and his behavior; Mr. Taylor suffered psychological trauma due to abuse and neglect as a child; Mr. Taylor suffered psychological trauma due to deprivation in parental nurturing; lack of positive role models; no parental emotional support to assist in his development; neurological impairment; learning disabilities, attention interaction deficit problems, and social problems; obtainment of GED in prison; attempts to address and recover from drug addiction; good and dependable worker; cooperation with law enforcement; history of substance abuse dating to childhood; under the influence of alcohol at the time of the incident; demonstrated appropriate courtroom behavior; proportionality. (V8,R1302-1313).

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held on August 16, 2004. (V8,R1314)

The trial court imposed sentence on September 29, 2004. The trial court found three aggravating factors: that Mr. Taylor was previously convicted of a violent felony (great weight); that the murder was committed for

pecuniary gain (great weight); and that Mr. Taylor was on felony probation at the time of the offense (great weight). (V8,R1314-1317)

The trial court addressed the two proposed statutory mitigating circumstances. The trial court stated that "The Court has not seen or heard any credible objective evidence that the Defendant has brain damage due to trauma or any other source." (V8,R1320) The court acknowledged both an antisocial personality disorder and а borderline personality disorder. (V8,R1320) The court found that Mr. Taylor was not under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (rejecting the statutory mitigator), but did find that Mr. Taylor was under the influence of some mental or emotional disturbance. (V8,R1321) The court assigned this mitigating circumstance some weight. (V8,R1321)

The trial court also rejected the statutory mitigating circumstance that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law as substantially impaired. (V8,R1321-1322)

The trial court found the following non-statutory mitigating circumstances and assigned them the following

weight:

- Neurological frontal lobe impairment affecting brain function and behavior: previously found and previously given some weight. (V8,R1322)
- Psychological trauma due to abuse and neglectful treatment in childhood: some weight. (V8,R1322)
- Psychological trauma due to deprivation in parental nurturing: some weight.
- No positive role models in formative years: rejected.
- 5. No emotional or parental support to assist with personality development: modest weight.
- Neurological impairments affected ability to control impulses: some weight to mental disorders.
- 7. Documented learning disabilities, attention deficit disorders, and problems with social interaction: some weight.
- 8. Obtaining of GED: minimum weight.
- 9. Attempts to address and recover from drug dependency: modest weight.

- Good dependable worker and employee: minimum weight.
- 11. Cooperation with law enforcement: minimum weight.
- 12. Early abuse of alcohol and drugs: some weight.

The trial court also considered separately four other mitigating circumstances;

- Under the influence of alcohol at the time of the offense: little weight.
- Demonstrating appropriate courtroom behavior: little weight.
- Society can be protected by life in prison: not an appropriate consideration for sentencing.
- 4. The totality of the circumstances does not set this murder apart from the norm of other murders: rejected, as the court found this murder was among the most aggravated and least mitigated.

The trial court imposed a sentence of death on Count1, first-degree murder. (V8,R1325;1334) The trial court also sentenced Mr. Taylor to life in prison on Count 2, Attempted First-Degree Murder; life in prison on Count 3, Robbery with a Deadly Weapon; life in prison with a 20 year minimum/mandatory on Count 4, Robbery with a Firearm; and life in prison with a 10 year minimum/mandatory on Count 5, Armed Burglary of a Dwelling. (V8,R1325;1336-45) Each of these sentences was to run consecutive to each other and consecutive to the sentence on Count 1. (V8,R1325)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on October 7, 2004. (V8,R1349)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mrs. Renate Sikes is the mother of Sandra Kushmer and Bill Maddox. (V16,T1158) In 2001 she was living in Riverview. (V16,T1158) On May 25, 2001, her husband, Barry Sikes was hospitalized. (V16,T1161) Due to the severity of his illness, Ms. Kushmer was living with her and Bill Maddox had come from California to visit. (V16,T1161-1163) Mr. Maddox rented a car, but was planning to stay with Mrs. Sikes. (V16,T1164)

On May 25, Mrs. Sikes, Mr. Maddox, and Ms. Kushmer went to the Columbia restaurant for lunch. (V16,T1164) Mr. Maddox purchased some cigars. (V16,T1165) The three returned to the hospital, taking both cars. (V16,T1166) Later in the evening Mr. Maddox and Ms. Kushmer left

together, taking the rental car. (V16, T1166)

Ms. Sikes phoned her home from the hospital around 10:30 p.m. (V16,T1166) She spoke with Ms. Kushmer. (V16, T1166) Ms. Sikes noticed that Ms. Kushmer was laughing and carrying on. (V16,T1166) When asked, Ms. Kushmer said that "Ken" was also at the house with her and her brother. (V16,T1166) Ms. Kushmer said that she knew "Ken" from school. (V16,T1190) Mrs. Sikes did not like people being at her house and asked that "Ken" leave.(V16,T1167;1189)

Mrs. Sikes called about a half hour later and no one answered the phone. (V16,T1167) Mrs. Sikes continued to call all night long, trying to reach her children to let them know that she as going to stay at the hospital because her husband had taken a turn for the worse. (V16,T1167) She continued to call into the next morning. (V16,T1168)

Mrs. Sikes decided to risk leaving the hospital around 3:00 p.m. the next day to go to the house. (V16,T1168) She arrived at the house around 3:30 p.m. on May 26. (V16,T1169) Mrs. Sikes parked her car in the driveway and headed to the side entrance. (V16,T1170) The rental car was not in the driveway. (V16,T1171) Mrs. Sikes discovered a pocketbook and her daughter's shoes laying on the ground. (V16,T1171-1172) She picked up her daughter's medication

from the ground. (V16,T1172) Mrs. Sikes then saw blood on the outside wall of the side of the house. (V16,T1172)

Mrs. Sikes walked into the house and found Ms. Kushmer laying on the floor in a puddle of blood. (V16,T1172) Mrs. Sikes picked up her daughter's head and realized that she was dead. (V16,T1172) She then began to look for her son. (V16,T1172)

Mrs. Sikes found Mr. Maddox in his childhood bedroom. (V16,T1173) She yelled at him that Ms. Kushmer was dead. (V16,T1173) Mr. Maddox sat up and told her to "be quiet". (V16,T1173) Mrs. Sikes saw that Mr. Maddox's face was all black and blue and that his pillow was black with blood. (V16,T1173) Mr. Maddox did not appear to know what was going on. (V16,T1173) Mrs. Sikes called 911. (V16,T1173)

Mr. Maddox was taken to Tampa General Hospital. (V16,T1175)

Mrs. Sikes has noticed personality and demeanor changes in Mr. Maddox since the incident. (V16,T1175) He suffered depression. (V16,T1175)

During May 2001 Mrs. Sikes kept her costume jewelry in a jewelry box on the dresser in her bedroom. (V16,T1178) She discovered all the jewelry and little boxes all over the counter and her bed. (V16,T1178) Cameras kept in the

closet where Mr. Maddox was found were missing. (V16,T1181-1182) She later identified her cameras in the possession of Detective Flair. (V16,T1182)

Mrs. Sikes found several items in her kitchen that would not normally be there. (V16,T1183) Orange juice was in the refrigerator and Heineken beer bottles were in the freezer. (V16,T1183) There was broken glass in the trash can and the kitchen rug had been hung outside. (V16,T1183) Bread and other items were left on the counter. (V16,T1183)

Officer Anthony Shephard responded to the Riverview home. (V16,T1212) Shepard observed something on the outside of the house and several items strewn along the side of the house. (V16,T1215-1220) As he entered the house Shephard believed he saw blood spatters in that area. (V16,T1220) Inside he discovered Ms. Kushmer laying in blood. (V16,T1221) Shephard discovered Mr. Maddox in the bedroom. (V16,T1223) Mr. Maddox was speaking incoherently and appeared to be in shock. (V16,T1223) In canvassing the remainder of the house, Shephard found what appeared to be blood on a suitcase and toilet. (V16,T1225)

Cynthia Byrnes worked at Harry's Bar in Riverview in May 2001. (V16,T1258) She knew Mr. Taylor as a regular

customer in the bar. (V16,T1259) She also knew Sandra Kushmer as a customer who had come in several times. (V16,T1259)

On the night of Friday, May 25<sup>th</sup>, Ms. Kushmer and her brother came into the bar about 9:30 p.m.. (V16,T1259) Mr. Taylor, whom she knew as Ken, arrived at the bar after them. (V16,T1259) Ms. Byrnes saw Ms. Kushmer talking to Mr. Taylor. (V16,T1259) Mr. Maddox was drinking expensive drinks and paying for them in cash, with twenties. (V16,T1260) Mr. Maddox was leaving good tips. (V16,T1260) He and Ms. Kushmer had quite a bit to drink. (V16,T1260) Ms. Byrnes had previously testified that a man named "Wayne" with a crazy eye was also at the bar. (V16,R1280)

When they started to leave, Ms. Kushmer and Mr. Maddox got into an argument about leaving. He wanted to go and she wanted to stay. (V16,T1261) Mr. Maddox asked Ms. Byrnes to call him a cab. (V16,T1260) Ms. Byrnes called a cab. (V16,T1261)

Ms. Byrnes then saw Mr. Maddox, Ms. Kushmer, and Mr. Taylor leave the bar together. (V16,T1261) About fifteen minutes later the cab driver arrived, asking where his fare was. (V16,T1262)

Tommy Riley knew Mr. Taylor, having met him through an

acquaintance at a bar. (V16,T1232) In 2001 he was living with Lisa Lewis. (V16,T1233) On May 25<sup>th</sup>, Ms. Lewis had asked him if Mr. Taylor could spend the night at their home and Riley had agreed. (V16,T1233) Riley spoke with Mr. Taylor that evening and Mr. Taylor confirmed that he would be coming over and asked that the door be left open. (V16,T1233) The door was not left unlocked at Lisa Lewis's request. (V16,T1234)

Riley did not see Mr. Taylor until the morning of May 26<sup>th</sup>. (V16,T1234) Mr. Taylor was at the door around 9:00 a.m. and asked if he could do some laundry. (V16,T1234) Mr. Taylor washed some clothes, including a pair of tennis shoes. (V16,T1234) The shoes were left to dry on the fence outside. (V16,T1235) A detective later came and got the shoes. (V16,T1242)

Later in the day Mr. Taylor said he was low on money and asked if Riley would cash a check for him. (V16,T1235) Mr. Taylor gave Riley a beige check for several hundred dollars from Wells Fargo Bank drawn on the account of William Maddox and made out to Mr. Taylor. (V16,T1235) Mr. Taylor said he was given the check for work he had done at the shipyard.(V16,T1236) Mr. Riley said they couldn't cash an out-of-state check on Saturday. (V16,T1236) Mr. Taylor then offered to cash another check and give Riley \$40 that he owed him. (V16,T1236) Riley refused. (V16,T1236)

Mr. Taylor had a white pick-up truck that morning. (V16,T1237) It had a Tennessee tag in the rear window. (V16,T1237) Mr. Taylor kept going out to the truck, saying he was listening to the radio. (V16,T1237) He seemed nervous. (V16,T1246)

Sometime in the afternoon another person came over and was talking with Mr. Taylor. (V16,T1251) The two left in the other person's vehicle. (V16,T1251) Riley did not know the person, who appeared to be Hispanic. (V16,T1253)

Riley went to work that evening at the Oasis bar, doing part-time bar tending. (V16,T1239) Mr. Taylor came into the bar with the same Hispanic person from the afternoon and several other people. (V16,T1253) Mr. Taylor was buying drinks, paying with twenties. (V16,T1240) Mr. Taylor then said that they were going to Ybor City and several left the bar. (V16,T1240) Mr. Taylor came back to Riley's house later that night. (V16,T1253)

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