IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC04-2243 Lower Tribunal No. 01-8692

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In addition, it should be noted that suppression would not be appropriate in this case even if Taylor's asserted lack of consent could be supported, as this evidence would have been inevitably discovered by lawful means, given Taylor's arrest on an outstanding federal warrant. Clearly Taylor would not be returning to his motel room and any items abandoned in the room would be provided to the police. On these facts, the

exclusionary rule does not apply. <u>Maulden v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 298, 301 (Fla. 1993).

Furthermore, it is readily apparent that any possible error on this issue would be harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. The only evidence admitted against Taylor subject to the suppression motion consisted of a couple of credit cards and receipts. Taylor's possession and unauthorized use of the victims' credit cards was acknowledged in his confession and well established by other independent testimony at trial. See V17/1337-38, 1343-48, 1377-78; V19/1662-74; V20/1760-63, 1774; V23/2104-09. As the underlying probative fact was never disputed by Taylor, and was fully supported by other evidence, the duplicitous nature of this evidence renders any possible error clearly harmless.

The trial court properly denied Taylor's motion to suppress the evidence seized from his motel room following his arrest based on his voluntary consent to the search, and this issue offers no basis for disturbing Taylor's convictions. His request for a new trial must be rejected.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE.

Taylor next challenges the propriety of the death sentence imposed in this case. He claims that Sandra's murder is not among the most aggravated or least mitigated, and that the sentence is disproportionate compared to other capital cases.

A proportionality determination does not turn on the existence and number of aggravating and mitigating factors, but this Court must weigh the nature and quality of the factors as compared with other death cases. Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). The purpose of a proportionality review is to compare the case to similar defendants, facts and sentences, to insure that the death penalty is being uniformly imposed. Tillman v. State, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991).

The aggravating factors found in this case are: (1) defendant was previously convicted of violent felonies; (2) murder committed for pecuniary gain; and (3) defendant was on felony probation at the time of the murder (V8/1315-17). There were no statutory mitigators found, but the trial court gave varying degrees of weight to nonstatutory mitigation, including Taylor's antisocial and borderline personality disorders, his long history of substance abuse, and a lack of parental

nurturing (V8/1317-25). The jury recommended the death sentence by a vote of 12 to 0 (V8/1265; V29/3133-34).

Factually similar cases supporting the death penalty for Taylor include: Griffin v. State, 820 So. 2d 906, 916-17 (Fla. 2002) (defendants shot two victims in well-planned robbery, similar aggravating and mitigating factors, except Griffin had no significant prior criminal history); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 25-26 (Fla.) (defendant and victim left bar together, went to victim's home, where defendant raped and killed victim), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 858 (2000); Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 853 (Fla. 1997) (defendants befriended the victims while camping, raped one victim and killed the other, stealing their property), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1051 (1998); Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 845 (Fla. 1997) (victim shot during robbery, similar aggravating and mitigating factors); Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551-52 (Fla. 1997) (defendant robbed and killed a friend); Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191, 194 (Fla. 1991) (defendant and others lured victim into roadside ambush, to rob and kill him; like Taylor, Wickham had spent most of his adult life incarcerated).

Taylor's argument on this issue makes no effort to compare this case with factually similar capital cases. Rather, he simply asserts that the case cannot be among the "most

aggravated" because the aggravating factors of heinous, atrocious or cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated did not apply. Although this Court has acknowledged the relevance of these factors in a proportionality review, this Court also recognized that their presence or absence is "not controlling." Larkins v. State, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999). Of course, upheld a number of death sentences this Court has proportionate when neither HAC nor CCP were applied. See Taylor v. State, 855 So. 2d 1, 32 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 905 (2004); Griffin; Bryant v. State, 785 So. 2d 422, 437 (Fla. 2001); Shellito; Moore; Sliney v. State, 699 So. 2d 662, 672 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1129 (1998); Ferrell v. State, 680 So. 2d 390, 391 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1123 (1997); Vining v. State, 637 So. 2d 921, 928 (Fla. 1994).

The three aggravating factors applied in this case were each allocated "great weight" by the trial judge (V8/1315-17). The prior violent felony conviction aggravator did not encompass the contemporaneous crimes Taylor committed, but was premised on two prior, separate violent incidents (V8/1315). As the trial court noted, Taylor had been incarcerated for twenty-three of the last twenty-seven years, and the protracted, violent nature of his criminal history supports the great weight given this factor (V8/1315).

In addition, although HAC and CCP were not found and weighed in aggravation, the evidence demonstrated that Taylor's actions in holding the shotgun to Sandra's face and firing when she was already injured, defenseless, and not threatening his escape were both brutal and deliberate, facts which can be considered in proportionality even in the absence of HAC and CCP. See Sliney, 699 So. 2d at 672 (noting brutality of attack in upholding proportionality of sentence, despite trial court's failure to find HAC). As previously noted, the aggravating factors applied in this case do not take into account the other offenses committed at the time of the murder, including the brutal contemporaneous attack on Bill.² When the totality of the circumstances are considered, Sandra's murder is among the most aggravated and well supports the death sentence imposed.

In addition, Taylor's characterizations of the mitigation presented as "substantial" and "extensive" are not well taken.

Taylor reaches this conclusion by listing off the different

² Taylor was convicted of attempted first degree murder (relating to the attack on Bill Maddox), as well as robbery with a deadly weapon, robbery with a firearm, armed burglary, and felon in possession of a firearm (V8/1212-13; V25/2477-78). The trial judge required the State to select between the pecuniary gain aggravating factor, and any aggravating factor based on the murder occurring during the course of a robbery or burglary, as the court was concerned that the jury would not understand how to properly "merge" the factors (V25/2453). The State sought consideration of the pecuniary gain factor and neither the jury nor the trial judge considered the contemporaneous robberies and burglary to support the death sentence (V26/2571).

nonstatutory mitigating factors found, without exploring the evidentiary support or the nature and extent of the factors. The trial court's findings do not reflect a showing of compelling mitigation. Notably, the trial court did not find statutory mitigation to exist, although there nonstatutory mitigation with regard to Taylor's mental functioning and background. Judge Fleischer extensively reviewed the expert testimony presented, concluding, "[t]he Court has not seen or heard any credible, objective evidence that the Defendant has brain damage due to trauma or any other source" (V8/1320). The mental mitigation found below appears comparable to that described in Shellito, Ferrell, Cole and Zack, and does not demonstrate any error in the conclusion of the court below "that this murder is among the most aggravated and least mitigated" (V8/1325).

Additional background mitigation revolves around Taylor's extensive substance abuse, learning disability, and unsatisfactory relationship with his stepfather. The evidentiary support for these mitigators was not persuasive, and does not generate any significant reduction of Taylor's moral culpability. Simply glossing over the list of mitigation does not provide any meaningful guidance to this Court in determining proportionality. For example, although the trial court provided

"minimum" weight to Taylor being "a good and dependable worker" based on testimony from Robert Railey that Railey had been a foreman to Taylor when Taylor worked at a ship building company, there was no testimony as to how long the employment lasted or any other examples of Taylor as a dependable worker. As the trial court noted, Taylor was unemployed for the twenty-three years he was incarcerated (V8/1323-24). When the evidentiary underpinnings of Taylor's case for mitigation are reviewed, the proportionality of Taylor's sentence is confirmed.

The death sentence imposed for Sandra's murder is not disproportionate when compared to other factually similar cases. Taylor's request for a life sentence on this basis must be denied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Taylor's next issue challenges the trial court's denial of his motion to declare Florida's statute to be facially unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). As this is a purely legal issue, appellate review is de novo. Trotter v. State, 825 So. 2d 362, 365 (Fla. 2002).

This Court has repeatedly rejected Taylor's claim that Ring invalidated Florida's capital sentencing procedures. See Winkles v. State, 894 So. 2d 842, 845-46 (Fla. 2005); Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003) (Ring does not encompass Florida procedures or require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury); Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817, 834 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting Ring claim in a single aggravator (HAC) case); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070 (2002); King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067 (2002).

Even if the Sixth Amendment included a right to jury sentencing, as Taylor submits, he could not prevail on this

claim, given the unanimous recommendation for death his jury returned (V8/1625; V29/3133-34). In addition, his death eligibility is satisfied by the prior violent felony convictions, which need not be found by a new jury. Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224 (1988); Winkles; Doorbal v. State, 837 So. 2d 940, 963 (Fla.), cert. denied, 539 U.S. 962 (2003). Furthermore, his jury convicted him of other crimes, including robbery and burglary, which also establish his death eligibility (V8/1212-13; V25/2477-78). Belcher v. State, 851 So. 2d 678, 685 (Fla. 2003). Therefore, any possible inconsistency between Florida's procedures and Ring's expansion of the jury role would not compel relief in this case.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE EXISTENCE OF THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATING FACTOR BARS THE APPLICATION OF RING V. ARIZONA TO DEATH SENTENCES.

Taylor next asks this Court to reconsider its prior decisions denying relief under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), based on the existence of a prior violent felony aggravating factor. This is a legal claim subject to de novo review.

Of course, it is not necessary for this Court to even consider this issue, since Ring has been rejected as a basis for relief even in cases where no prior violent felony conviction applied. See Butler; Davis v. State, 859 So. 2d 465, 479-80 (Fla. 2003). As Justice Pariente has recognized, a unanimous jury recommendation, as in the instant case, necessarily connotes a jury finding of aggravation to satisfy Ring. Davis, 859 So. 2d at 485 (Pariente, J., dissenting).

Further, even if the claim is considered, no relief is warranted. This Court's recognition of the prior conviction aggravator as a death qualifier not subject to Ring's jury requirement is premised on Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224 (1988). See Belcher, 851 So. 2d at 685. Although Taylor asserts that Almendarez-Torres is no longer valid

precedent, this Court has acknowledged that it does not have the authority to find that a United States Supreme Court decision has been implicitly overturned. <u>Bottoson</u>, 833 So. 2d at 695, quoting <u>Rodriguez De Quijas v. Shearson/American Express</u>, 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989).

Taylor has not established that he is entitled to any relief in this issue, and this Court must deny his request for a new sentence on this basis.

ISSUE V

WHETHER FLORIDA'S STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF.

Florida's Taylor also asserts that standard jury instructions are unconstitutional. According to Taylor, the instructions impermissibly shift the burden of proof, unconstitutionally requiring the defense to establish that life is the appropriate sentence. This is a legal issue to be reviewed de novo.³

It must be noted initially that this argument has not been preserved for appellate review. Although Taylor objected to the standard instructions on the basis of alleged burden shifting, the trial judge below agreed to modify the standard instructions to address Taylor's concerns (V11/405-06; V25/2404-2455). Specifically, as to the burden shifting issue, the judge switched the language to provide that the jury must determine whether the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation

If Taylor were challenging the denial of requested jury instructions, his argument would be subject to an abuse of discretion standard. Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145, 163 (Fla. 2002). However, the judge below granted his request, and in fact modified the standard jury instructions. He does not challenge the modified instructions as given or the refusal to incorporate additional defense instructional requests. Since his argument is limited to the facial validity of the standard instructions (which were not given to his jury), the standard of review is de novo.

(V26/2620-21; V29/3120). The judge acknowledged that the law did not require her to deviate from the standard instructions, but noted that she intended to provide "extreme due process" to Mr. Taylor to ensure that his trial was constitutionally sound (V11/405).

Following the modification, Taylor did not continue to object to the standard instructions as unconstitutionally shifting the burden of proof. The only instructional issue preserved for appellate review was the extent to which Taylor's proposed penalty phase instruction alternatives (found at V8/1179-1211) differed from the instructions actually given by the court (see V25/2404-55; V26/2580-2598, discussing final objections to penalty phase instructions). Taylor has made no effort to explain how the instructions actually given failed to address his concerns, or to analyze any practical differences between the instructions he requested and those actually provided to the jury. Therefore, his current argument was not the instructional issue preserved for appellate review, and must be denied as procedurally barred.

In addition, Taylor's burden shifting claim has been rejected many times. See Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 842-43 (Fla. 1997); Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108, 113, n.6

⁴ At trial, he acknowledged that the court's changes relieved his major concerns (V25/2404).

(Fla. 1991); Arango v. State, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla.), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1140 (1982). Taylor has offered no reasonable basis for departing from the well established precedent rejecting his claim. Obviously, any possible defect in the standard instructions would be harmless in this case, since Taylor's jury did not receive the standard instructions. He is not entitled to a new penalty phase proceeding on this issue.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS VIOLATE CALDWELL V. MISSISSIPPI.

Taylor's final issue asserts that Florida's standard jury instructions unconstitutionally denigrate and minimize the role of the jury in the sentencing process, in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). Once again, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review, as the standard instructions were not provided to Taylor's jury, and his trial objection was directed to the instructions as given (V26/2580-81, 2592-96, 2598, 2619-21; V29/3119-28). Taylor fails to acknowledge that the court below made a concerted effort to describe the jury role as accurately as possible, and to emphasize the importance of the jury's recommendation beyond that noted in the standard instruction (V11/405-06; V12/503-504; V26/2620; V29/3119-20).

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